Parent Provider Alliance (PPA) CPCCRN Protocol Number 075

Collaborative Pediatric Critical Care Research Network

Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute for Child Health

and Human Development (NICHD)

Protocol Version 1.01 Version Date: May 25, 2017 Printing Date: April 25, 2018 Copyright © 2015 - 2016. University of Utah School of Medicine on behalf of the Principal Investigator, Markita Suttle, M.D. & Kathleen Meert, M.D. and the Collaborative Pediatric Critical Care Research Network (CPCCRN). All rights reserved.

This protocol is CPCCRN Protocol Number 075, and has been authored by Markita Suttle, M.D. & Kathleen Meert, M.D., Nationwide Children's Hospital & Childrens Hospital of Michigan, for implementation with the CPCCRN investigators. This study is supported by R01-HD071915 awarded to Nationwide Children's Hospital & Childrens Hospital of Michigan (PI:Markita Suttle, M.D. & Kathleen Meert, M.D.) by the *Eunice Kennedy Shriver Eunice Kennedy Shriver* National Institute for Child Health and Human Development (NICHD)

The CPCCRN Clinical Centers are the University of California Los Angeles, Children's Hospital of Michigan, Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, University of Pittsburgh Medical Center, Children's National Medical Center, Children's Hospital Colorado, Nationwide Children's Hospital and the University of California San Francisco, and are supported by Cooperative Agreements U10-HD050012, U10-HD050096, U10-HD063108, U10-HD049983, U10-HD049981, U10-HD063114, and U10-HD063106, respectively, from the *Eunice Kennedy Shriver* National Institute for Child Health and Human Development (NICHD).

This document was prepared by the CPCCRN Data Coordinating Center located at the University of Utah School of Medicine, Salt Lake City, Utah. The CPCCRN Data Coordinating Center at the University of Utah is supported by Cooperative Agreement U01-HD049934 from the National Institute for Child Health and Human Development (NICHD). The document was written and typeset using \LaTeX 2_{ε} .

PROTOCOL TITLE:

Parent Provider Alliance

Short Title: PPA CPCCRN Protocol Number: 075

Lead Investigator and Author:
Markita Suttle, M.D. & Kathleen Meert, M.D.
Nationwide Children's Hospital & Childrens Hospital of Michigan

Protocol Version: 1.01 Version Date: May 25, 2017

I confirm that I have read this protocol, I understand it, and I will conduct the study according to the protocol. I will also work consistently with the ethical principles that have their origin in the Declaration of Helsinki and will adhere to the Ethical and Regulatory Considerations as stated. I confirm that if I or any of my staff are members of the Institutional Review Board, we will abstain from voting on this protocol, its future renewals, and its future amendments.

Principal Investigator Name:	
1	
Principal Investigator Signature:	
Date:	

THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY BLANK.

Contents

1	Study Summary			
	1.1 Hypotheses	7		
	1.2 Specific Aims	7		
	1.3 Subject Eligibility, Accrual and Study Duration	8		
2	Rationale	8		
3	Background	8		
4 Study Design and Procedures				
	4.1 Study Design Overview	9		
	4.2 Subject Accrual and Study Duration	9		
	4.3 Inclusion & Exclusion Criteria	10		
	4.4 Enrollment, Follow Up & Withdrawal	10		
5	Study Data Collection	10		
6 Data Analysis		11		
	6.1 Specific Aim Analyses	11		
	6.2 Sample Size Calculations and Statistical Power	12		
7	Data Management	13		
	7.1 CPCCRN Data Coordinating Center (Utah)	13		
	7.1.1 Facility, Hardware, Storage, Data Backup and System Availability	13		
	7.1.2 Security, Support, Encryption and Confidentiality	15		
	7.2 Data Quality Management and Monitoring	16		
	7.3 Record Access	16		
8 Protection of Human Subjects		16		
	8.1 Institutional Review Board (IRB) Approval	16		
	8.2 Informed Consent	16		
	8.3 Potential Risks	17		
	8.3.1 Loss of Confidentiality	17		
	8.4 Protections Against Potential Risks	17		
	8.5 Potential Benefits	17		

9	Study Training & Monitoring	17
	9.1 Study Training	17
	9.2 Study Monitoring	18
10	Regulatory Issues	18
	10.1 Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act	18
	10.2 Inclusion of Women and Minorities	19
	10.3 ClinicalTrials.gov Requirements	19
	10.4 Retention of Records	19
	10.5 Public Use Data Set	19
Bi	ibliography	20

Abstract

About 55,000 children die annually in the U.S. affecting the health and welfare of many families. Most of these deaths occur in hospitals, mainly in intensive care units. Parents whose children die in pediatric intensive care units (PICUs) are at high risk for adverse health outcomes. The Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development Collaborative Pediatric Critical Care Research Network (CPCCRN) previously demonstrated a high prevalence of complicated grief, a chronic debilitating disorder, among parents whose children died in PICUs.^{1, 2} Therapeutic alliance, a key component of patient and family-centered care (PFCC),³ is the collaborative bond that develops between patients/families and their healthcare providers. The strength of therapeutic alliance has been shown to affect treatment outcomes for many conditions. Therapeutic alliance includes high quality communication, caring and trust, aspects of healthcare deemed essential by parents of terminally ill children. What is not known is the extent to which therapeutic alliance can reduce complicated grief and other adverse health outcomes among parents after a childs death in a PICU.

1 Study Summary

1.1 Hypotheses

The hypotheses of this study are:

- 1. The extent of the rapeutic alliance reported by parents is influenced, in part, by parent and child attributes, and by characteristics of the childs clinical course.
- 2. Greater therapeutic alliance will be associated with reduced complicated grief, depression, post-traumatic stress and poor physical health, and increased post-traumatic growth among parents 6 and 13 months after their child's death.

1.2 Specific Aims

This project has the following Specific Aims:

Specific Aim 1. Determine the extent of therapeutic alliance bereaved parents perceive to have occurred between parents, and their child's physicians and other healthcare providers during the child's PICU stay.

Specific Aim 2. Determine the extent to which therapeutic alliance is associated with parents' health outcomes after their child's death in a PICU.

1.3 Subject Eligibility, Accrual and Study Duration

Eligible participants will be identified by on-site study staff. Inclusion criteria are:

- 1. Child of the parents died in a CPCCRN ICU
- 2. At least one of the parents is the biological mother/father or the legal guardian of the deceased child
- 3. At least one of the parents or legal guardians speaks English or Spanish
- 4. The parent(s) and/or legal guardian(s) are at least 18 years of age

2 Rationale

Parents of children who die in PICUs are at high risk for adverse health outcomes, yet the impact of therapeutic alliance on bereaved parents' health is unknown. The CPCCRN Bereavement Project has identified high rates of complicated grief among bereaved parents in PICUs, and factors associated with complicated grief such as parent attachment styles.^{1, 2} However, knowledge of modifiable factors such as therapeutic alliance that could potentially improve bereaved parents' health is needed.

The proposed research would be beneficial to the field of critical care medicine for the following reasons:

- It would be the first study to examine therapeutic alliance in PICUs, and the first to specifically investigate the role of therapeutic alliance on bereaved parents' health after their child's death in a PICU.
- In addition to the parent-physician relationship, therapeutic alliance between parents and PICU staff will also be evaluated.

Greater understanding of the rapeutic alliance in PICUs will open new avenues for improving pediatric end-of-life care and the support provided to be reaved parents and families.

3 Background

Parental grief after a child's death is more intense and prolonged than grief suffered by adults after the death of a spouse, parent or sibling.^{4–6} Nearly all studies examining mental health among bereaved parents report high risk for disorders such as complicated

grief,^{1, 2, 7, 8}depression,⁹ and post-traumatic stress.¹⁰ Among parents whose children die in PICUs, 60% have symptoms consistent with complicated grief 6 months after the death, which persist in 40% at 18 months.^{1, 2} Bereaved parents have higher risk of first time psychiatric hospitalization and suicide than non-bereaved parents.^{11–14} Many studies report higher rates of physical illness among bereaved parents.^{15–18} Despite these risks, little is known about the role PICU physicians and staff may play in bereaved parents' ability to adjust to their childs death.

Therapeutic alliance was first described in the psychotherapy literature as an empathic bond between patient and therapist, and is highly regarded as an essential psychotherapeutic agent in the prediction of treatment response. It is a multifaceted construct reflecting the strength and quality of relationship between a patient/family and their physician; elements include mutual feelings of trust, caring, respect, collaboration, and understanding.³ In previous studies it has been shown to have positive effects on health outcomes in adults with diabetes, ¹⁹ HIV²⁰ and bulimia nervosa, ²¹ and in children with cancer, ²² obsessive compulsive disorder, ²³ and arthritis. ²⁴ Therapeutic alliance has not been thoroughly investigated during pediatric critical illness despite its demonstrated benefits in other serious conditions. In the PICU, research suggests that therapeutic alliance extends beyond the patient/family-physician relationship to include relationships patients and families have with other healthcare providers (e.g., nurses). ^{25, 26} Families facing medical crises in PICUs rely heavily on a select support network, and healthcare providers with whom they are recently acquainted are drawn quickly into their inner circle of support. ²⁷

4 Study Design and Procedures

4.1 Study Design Overview

The study will be based around a multisite longitudinal survey of parents 6 & 13 months after their child's death in a CPCCRN-affiliated ICU. Parent characteristics and perceived therapeutic alliance will be assessed at 6 months, while parent health outcomes will be measured at 6 & 13 months.

4.2 Subject Accrual and Study Duration

Medical records of deceased children will be reviewed to obtain child characteristics and details of the clinical course. Based on our study design, we will need to enroll at least 90 families, with at least 1 parent or family member participating. To be able to get such

numbers, we will be attempting to contact 500 families to meet the recruitment goal. The study is anticipated to complete recruitment in a period of 18 months.

4.3 Inclusion & Exclusion Criteria

Inclusion criteria are:

- 1. Child of the parents died in a CPCCRN ICU
- 2. At least one of the parents is the biological mother/father or the legal guardian of the deceased child
- 3. At least one of the parents or legal guardians speaks English or Spanish
- 4. The parent(s) and/or legal guardian(s) are at least 18 years of age

There are no exclusion criteria for this study.

4.4 Enrollment, Follow Up & Withdrawal

Parents will be mailed an introduction letter that expresses condolences, a research information sheet that explains the study, in addition to two identical sets of surveys (one for each parent, if applicable) 6 months after their child's death. Parents will be asked to complete the surveys and will be given the option of returning surveys by mail, or completing them by telephone. An opt-out phone number (for non-participants) and stamped return envelope (for participants) will be provided with the 6 month survey packets. If no opt-out call or completed surveys are received from parents within one month, parents will be contacted by phone to discuss study participation, and options for completing surveys will again be provided. Parents that complete surveys at 6 months will receive a second set of surveys for completion at 13 months, as explained in the research information sheet. A thank-you note and \$25 gift card will be sent to each parent completing surveys at each time point. Consent is implied for parents who return surveys by mail or electronically. Verbal consent will be obtained from parents who complete the surveys by telephone.

5 Study Data Collection

The following clinical data will be collected from the subjects' medical record: name, date of birth, gender, date of death, hospital admission & discharge dates and finally ICU admission dates. The primary diagnoses, along with the cause & mode of death will also be collected.

In the survey participants will be asked their gender, date of birth, race, ethnicity, level of education, marital status, relationship to the deceased subject and finally number of children the participant has.

6 Data Analysis

The hypotheses of this study are:

- 1. The extent of the rapeutic alliance reported by parents is influenced, in part, by parent and child attributes, and by characteristics of the childs clinical course.
- 2. Greater therapeutic alliance will be associated with reduced complicated grief, depression, post-traumatic stress and poor physical health, and increased post-traumatic growth among parents 6 and 13 months after their child's death.

To evaluate non-response bias, we will compare survey responders and non-responders based on parent and child characteristics. For all responders, we will summarize all variables using mean \pm SD (or median, IQR) for continuous variables, and count and percentage for categorical variables.

6.1 Specific Aim Analyses

Specific Aim 1. Determine the extent of therapeutic alliance bereaved parents perceive to have occurred between parents, and their child's physicians and other healthcare providers during the child's PICU stay.

For aim 1, we will assess whether therapeutic alliance differs according to parent and child characteristics based on information obtained from the 6 months survey (specifically the 16 questions built from The Human Connections Scale)³ This will be done using mixed effects models to account for correlated data between parents in the same family. If there are a substantial proportion of cases with only one parent responder, we will also analyze all associations for mothers and fathers separately. These analyses will be carried out using independent sample t-tests, one way ANOVA, Pearson correlations, and chi-squared tests. If the normality or equality of group variances assumptions are not met for any of the tests, we will use the appropriate non-parametric analog (Wilcoxon rank sum tests, Kruskal-Wallis tests, Spearman correlations). We will use the Tukey correction for multiplicity for all tests involving three or more categories. Two-sided p-values <0.05 will be considered statistically significant.

Specific Aim 2. Determine the extent to which therapeutic alliance is associated with parents' health outcomes after their child's death in a PICU.

For this aim, we will examine the association between parents' health outcomes at 6 months and therapeutic alliance using mixed effects models if there are a sufficient number of cases with responses from both parents; otherwise we will perform ordinary least squares regression for mothers and fathers separately. In terms of outcomes, primary outcomes will be measured by assessing complicated grief symptoms, while secondary outcomes will be measured by assessing depression symptoms, post-traumatic stress disorder symptoms, post-traumatic growth and parents perceived physical health. To adjust for attachment, and other parent and child characteristics, we will use multivariable models, with all variables (except our primary and secondary health outcomes) initially considered for inclusion in the model. We will also consider interaction effects between the rapeutic alliance and attachment and between the apeutic alliance and parent characteristics to allow for potential moderation effects. Variables will be included in the model based on stepwise variable selection, with an entry criterion of p<0.2 and an exit criterion of p>0.1. If multicollinearity is present among any of the predictor variables, we will run separate models for the variables in question and report the better model based on Akaikes Information Criterion (AIC) values. We will follow a similar process for analysis of health outcomes at 13 months. To evaluate factors related to improvement in health outcomes, we will use a binomial mixed effects model, adjusting for health outcomes at 6 months. As a sensitivity analysis, we will use multilevel mixed effects models for all analyses in aims 1 and 2 in order to assess whether site-level characteristics influence the results, and to control for site-to-site variability if needed.

6.2 Sample Size Calculations and Statistical Power

Using the rule of thumb of 10 subjects/variable for multivariable analyses, a sample size of 90 families (with at least 1 parent/family participating) will allow us to include 9 variables in the final models of interest. Moreover, 90 families will provide 90% power to test that a Pearson correlation between two continuous factors is >0.2, if the true correlation is at least 0.5. Based on our prior experience recruiting bereaved parents several months after their childs final hospitalization, we expect about 50% will be unable to be located. Among those located, we expect 50% initial participation and 20% loss to follow-up. Thus, we need to attempt contact with 500 families to meet the recruitment goal.

7 Data Management

7.1 CPCCRN Data Coordinating Center (Utah)

In addition to locally secured, identifiable information, partially identifiable information for all sites will be maintained at the CPCCRN Data Coordinating Center, located at the University of Utah in Salt Lake City, Utah.

7.1.1 Facility, Hardware, Storage, Data Backup and System Availability

The Data Coordinating Center (DCC) in the Department of Pediatrics at the University of Utah School of Medicine provides data coordination and management services for a variety of national research networks. Anchoring these services is a new state-of-theart, energy efficient data center completed in 2013. The data center facility supports more than 1200 users around the world and provides a secure, reliable, enterprise-wide infrastructure for delivering critical DCC systems and services. The new data center was built using high industry standards and energy efficient cooling solutions. The data center is cooled by Rittal's LCP inline cooling technology, providing efficiency, redundancy and modularity. Cooling is based upon a hot/cold aisle design that allows for even air distribution with minimal hot spots. The data center electrical power system contains a redundant Mitsubishi uninterruptible power system (UPS) with a diesel backup generator. The data center is protected with a FM200 fire suppression system, early warning smoke detectors and a heat detection warning system to act as a secondary system to the smoke detectors. Security guards are on-site conducting access control and rounds 24/7/365. Entry into the data center is restricted by card access and layered security measures and controls. The data center and external building access points are monitored with video surveillance.

In 2011 the data center began a large scale VMware server virtualization deployment. Currently, the data center has virtualized about 95% of its environment. The virtual environment consists of more than 160 virtual servers and nearly 20 physical servers. The data center's virtualization solution provides key advantages:

- high availability in the event of hardware failure, virtual servers automatically go back online in a seamless process.
- flexible infrastructure disk storage, memory and processor capacity can be increased or reallocated at any time.
- rapid deployment servers can be provisioned on-demand with minimal waiting on hardware of software.

The data center also enhanced its storage resources by implementing a networked storage system to support its virtualized environment. The data center currently manages over 50 terabytes of data. The storage solution consists of Dell's EqualLogic PS Series Storage system for providing a virtualized storage area network (SAN). Some of the benefits that are realized through this technology are:

- storage architecture will no longer be a bottleneck for IT services;
- performance is better than with the previous architecture;
- tiered storage is now possible;
- provisioning and reclamation of SAN disk will be much easier; and most important,
- the new architecture includes a redesign of the SAN fabric to include complete redundancy.

Production servers running critical applications are clustered and configured for failover events. Servers are backed up with encryption through a dedicated backup server that connects across an internal 10 gigabit network to a tape drive. Our storage area networking (SAN) applications, clusters, and switch-to-switch links are also on a 10 gigabit network. Incremental backups occur hourly Monday through Friday from 6 am to 6 pm. Incremental backups also are performed each night with full system backups occurring every Friday. Tapes are stored in a fireproof safe inside the data center facility, and full backups are taken off site on a weekly basis to an off-site commercial storage facility.

In the event of catastrophic failure, such as a fire in the server facility, daily backups would probably survive because of the fire suppression system and fireproof safe, but there would be obvious delay in re-establishing data center function because the servers will not survive such a disaster. Total destruction of the data center facility could cause the loss of up to one week's data. In future investments, the data center is making co-location, disaster recovery and business continuity solutions a top priority.

Our information systems are available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week to all users unless a scheduled maintenance interruption is required. If this occurs, we notify all users of the relevant systems, and data entry can be deferred until after the interruption is over. Critical systems availability has exceeded 99.9% for the past two years, and there has been no unscheduled downtime in over five years.

7.1.2 Security, Support, Encryption and Confidentiality

The data center coordinates the network infrastructure and security with the Health Sciences Campus (HSC) information systems at the University of Utah. This provides us with effective firewall hardware, automatic network intrusion detection, and the expertise of dedicated security experts working at the University. Network equipment includes four high-speed switches. User authentication is centralized with two Windows 2008 domain servers. Communication over public networks is encrypted with virtual point-to-point sessions using secure socket layer (SSL) or virtual private network (VPN) technologies, both of which provide at least 128 bit encryption. All of our Web-based systems use the SSL protocol to transmit data securely over the Internet. Direct access to data center machines is only available while physically located inside our offices, or via a VPN client.

All network traffic is monitored for intrusion attempts, security scans are regularly run against our servers, and our IT staff is notified of intrusion alerts. Security is maintained with Windows 2008 user/group domain-level security. Users are required to change their passwords every 90 days, and workstations time out after 5 minutes of inactivity. All files are protected at group and user levels; database security is handled in a similar manner with group-level access to databases, tables, and views in Microsoft SQL Server. Finally, all laptop computers in use in the DCC or in the Department of Pediatrics are whole-disk encrypted.

The data center uses control center tools to continuously monitor systems and failure alerts. Environmental and network systems are also monitored to ensure up time. Highly trained system administrators on staff are available to respond in high risk emergency events.

The investigators and staff of the Data Coordinating Center are fully committed to the security and confidentiality of all data collected for CPCCRN studies. All Data Coordinating Center personnel at the University of Utah have signed confidentiality agreements concerning all data encountered in the center. Violation of these agreements may result in termination from employment at the University of Utah. In addition, all personnel involved with data coordinating center data systems have received Human Subjects Protection and HIPAA education.

The staff, reviewers and investigators involved with this study will be required to sign agreements from the Data Coordinating Center that relate to maintenance of passwords, information system security, and data confidentiality.

7.2 Data Quality Management and Monitoring

The Data Coordinating Center monitors CPCCRN studies on behalf of the investigators and the funding agency. The purposes of monitoring include demonstration of adherence to human subjects protection requirements and assurance of high quality study data. Monitoring is usually done remotely and may also involve physical site monitoring visits. Site monitoring is described in more detail in Section 9.2.

7.3 Record Access

The medical record and study files (including informed consent, and permission) must be made available to authorized representatives of the Data Coordinating Center, upon request, for source verification of study documentation. In addition, medical information and data generated by this study must be available for inspection upon request by representatives of the National Institutes of Health, Food and Drug Administration, and the Institutional Review Board (IRB) for each study site.

8 Protection of Human Subjects

8.1 Institutional Review Board (IRB) Approval

The Data Coordinating Center and each clinical center must obtain approval from their respective IRB prior to participating in the study. This approval may be accomplished via a central IRB mechanism if this is available within the Network. The Data Coordinating Center will track IRB approval status at all participating centers and will not permit subject enrollment without documentation of initial IRB approval and maintenance of that approval throughout subsequent years of the project.

8.2 Informed Consent

The parent or legal guardian will be informed about the objectives of the study, the benefits and the potential risks in the Research Information Sheet mailed out to them in the 6 month survey packets. They will be given the option of opting out by calling a number. Completing the 6 month survey and mailing it back in or completing the survey over the telephone implies consent to take part in the study.

8.3 Potential Risks

This is a longitudinal study and the research presents no more than minimal risk of harm to subjects and involves no procedures with potential risks.

8.3.1 Loss of Confidentiality

There is risk of loss of confidentiality for data collected in this study. This risk is minimal as each subject will be assigned a unique identifier by the electronic data capture (EDC) system. It will only be possible for the Clinical Center to map this identifier to the subject's medical record number. No direct subject identifiers will be captured by the EDC or stored at the DCC. Staff at the DCC will not be able to determine the identity of any subject enrolled in this study.

8.4 Protections Against Potential Risks

Loss of confidentiality will be mitigated by the use of the CPCCRN Data Coordinating Center which has a highly secure IT infrastructure, and by the existence of trained research staff at participating sites. Data security is described in Section 7.

8.5 Potential Benefits

It is the goal of this research to determine the extent to which therapeutic alliance between parents and healthcare providers in the PICU is associated with bereaved parents' health outcomes. Once the impact of therapeutic alliance on bereaved parents' health is better understood, interventions to promote therapeutic alliance in PICUs can be developed and tested. Such measures will be implemented in PICUs to improve outcomes for bereaved parents.

Participants will be mailed a \$ 25 gift card for each survey they complete at each of the 6 month and 13 month time points.

9 Study Training & Monitoring

9.1 Study Training

A formal training program for investigators and research staff will be held prior to the start of enrollment at the Steering Committee Meeting. The training program will cover regulatory topics and Good Clinical Practice. The training will also provide in depth explanations regarding study procedures, clinical care, data entry procedures, quality assurance, site monitoring, and the informed consent process. A manual of operations will be provided to each investigator prior to the start of enrollment. The manual will detail specific information about the study procedures, and other necessary information. Updates and revisions to the manual will be made available electronically. The Data Coordinating Center, in collaboration with the study investigators (Dr. Suttle) and (Dr. Meert), will be the main contact for study questions.

9.2 Study Monitoring

This study will rely on remote monitoring involving detailed review of the data entered by the Clinical Center and consultations with the Clinical Center investigator and/or research coordinator to review data quality. This may require uploading de-identified copies of specific parts of the medical record, patient study file, regulatory documentation, or other source documents to the Data Coordinating Center staff, who review those materials against the data recorded in the electronic data capture system. This helps assure protocol compliance and accurate data collection. The Data Coordinating Center may conduct remote monitoring activities early in the study to assure protocol compliance and identify any training issues that may exist. For remote monitoring, the documents will be retained in accordance with federal requirements.

10 Regulatory Issues

10.1 Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act

Data elements collected include the date of birth, date of admission and date of hospital discharge. Prior to statistical analyses, dates will be used to calculate patient age at the time of the study events. The final data sets (used for study analyses and archived at the end of the study) will be de-identified, and will exclude these specific dates.

Data elements for race, ethnicity, and gender are also being collected. These demographic data are required for federal reporting purposes to delineate subject accrual by race, ethnicity, and gender.

For purposes of the DCC handling potential protected health information (PHI) and producing the de–identified research data sets that will be used for analyses, all study sites have been offered a Business Associate Agreement with the University of Utah. Copies of executed Business Associate Agreements are maintained at the DCC.

10.2 Inclusion of Women and Minorities

There will be no exclusion of patients based on gender, race, or ethnicity.

10.3 ClinicalTrials.gov Requirements

This study will not be registered at ClinicalTrials.gov as it is not an interventional trial.

10.4 Retention of Records

For federally funded studies subject to the Common Rule, records relating to the research conducted shall be retained for at least 3 years after completion of the research. Completion of the research for this protocol should be anticipated to include planned primary and secondary analyses, as well as subsequent derivative analyses. Completion of the research also entails completion of all publications relating to the research. All records shall be accessible for inspection and copying by authorized representatives of the regulatory authorities at reasonable times and in a reasonable manner [45 CFR §46.115(b)].

10.5 Public Use Data Set

After subject enrollment and follow up have been completed, the DCC will prepare a final study database for analysis. A releasable database will be produced and completely de-identified in accordance with the definitions provided in the Health insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA). Namely, all identifiers specified in HIPAA will be recoded in a manner that will make it impossible to deduce or impute the specific identity of any patient. The database will not contain any institutional identifiers.

The DCC will also prepare a data dictionary that provides a concise definition of every data element included in the database. If specific data elements have idiosyncrasies that might affect interpretation or analysis, this will be discussed in the dictionary document. In accordance with policies determined by the investigators and funding sponsors, the releasable database will be provided to users in electronic form.

Bibliography

- [1] Kathleen L Meert, Amy E Donaldson, Christopher J L Newth, Rick Harrison, John Berger, Jerry Zimmerman, K J S Anand, Joseph Carcillo, J Michael Dean, Douglas F Willson, Carol Nicholson, Katherine Shear, Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health, and Human Development Collaborative Pediatric Critical Care Research Network. Complicated grief and associated risk factors among parents following a child's death in the pediatric intensive care unit. Archives of pediatrics & adolescent medicine, 164:1045–1051, November 2010.
- [2] Kathleen L Meert, Katherine Shear, Christopher J L Newth, Rick Harrison, John Berger, Jerry Zimmerman, K J S Anand, Joseph Carcillo, Amy E Donaldson, J Michael Dean, Douglas F Willson, Carol Nicholson, Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health, and Human Development Collaborative Pediatric Critical Care Research Network. Follow-up study of complicated grief among parents eighteen months after a child's death in the pediatric intensive care unit. *Journal of palliative medicine*, 14:207–214, February 2011.
- [3] Jennifer W Mack, Susan D Block, Matthew Nilsson, Alexi Wright, Elizabeth Trice, Robert Friedlander, Elizabeth Paulk, and Holly G Prigerson. Measuring therapeutic alliance between oncologists and patients with advanced cancer: the Human Connection Scale. *Cancer*, 115:3302–3311, July 2009.
- [4] K L Meert, C S Thurston, and R Thomas. Parental coping and bereavement outcome after the death of a child in the pediatric intensive care unit. *Pediatric critical care medicine: a journal of the Society of Critical Care Medicine and the World Federation of Pediatric Intensive and Critical Care Societies*, 2:324–328, October 2001.
- [5] W Middleton, B Raphael, P Burnett, and N Martinek. A longitudinal study comparing bereavement phenomena in recently bereaved spouses, adult children and parents. *The Australian and New Zealand journal of psychiatry*, 32:235–241, April 1998.
- [6] Catherine M Sanders. A Comparison of Adult Bereavement in the Death of a Spouse, Child, and Parent. Omega: Journal of Death and Dying, 1979.
- [7] Kari Dyregrov, Dag Nordanger, and Atle Dyregrov. Predictors of psychosocial distress after suicide, SIDS and accidents. *Death studies*, 27:143–165, 2003.
- [8] Leoniek Wijngaards-de Meij, Margaret Stroebe, Henk Schut, Wolfgang Stroebe, Jan van den Bout, Peter van der Heijden, and Iris Dijkstra. Couples at risk following the

- death of their child: predictors of grief versus depression. *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology*, 73:617–623, August 2005.
- [9] Ulrika Kreicbergs, Unnur Valdimarsdttir, Erik Onelv, Jan-Inge Henter, and Gunnar Steineck. Anxiety and depression in parents 4-9 years after the loss of a child owing to a malignancy: a population-based follow-up. *Psychological medicine*, 34:1431–1441, Nov 2004.
- [10] Shirley A Murphy, L Clark Johnson, Ick-Joong Chung, and Randal D Beaton. The prevalence of PTSD following the violent death of a child and predictors of change 5 years later. *Journal of traumatic stress*, 16:17–25, February 2003.
- [11] Jiong Li, Thomas Munk Laursen, Dorthe Hansen Precht, Jrn Olsen, and Preben Bo Mortensen. Hospitalization for mental illness among parents after the death of a child. *The New England journal of medicine*, 352:1190–1196, Mar 2005.
- [12] Esben Agerbo. Midlife suicide risk, partner's psychiatric illness, spouse and child bereavement by suicide or other modes of death: a gender specific study. *Journal of epidemiology and community health*, 59:407–412, May 2005.
- [13] Jiong Li, Dorthe Hansen Precht, Preben Bo Mortensen, and Jrn Olsen. Mortality in parents after death of a child in denmark: a nationwide follow-up study. *Lancet (London, England)*, 361:363–367, Feb 2003.
- [14] Ping Qin and Preben Bo Mortensen. The impact of parental status on the risk of completed suicide. *Archives of general psychiatry*, 60:797–802, August 2003.
- [15] I Levav, R Kohn, J Iscovich, J H Abramson, W Y Tsai, and D Vigdorovich. Cancer incidence and survival following bereavement. American journal of public health, 90:1601–1607, October 2000.
- [16] Jiong Li, Christoffer Johansen, Dorthe Hansen, and Jrn Olsen. Cancer incidence in parents who lost a child: a nationwide study in denmark. *Cancer*, 95:2237–2242, Nov 2002.
- [17] Jiong Li, Dorthe Hansen, Preben Bo Mortensen, and Jrn Olsen. Myocardial infarction in parents who lost a child: a nationwide prospective cohort study in denmark. *Circulation*, 106:1634–1639, Sep 2002.
- [18] J Li, C Johansen, H Brnnum-Hansen, E Stenager, N Koch-Henriksen, and J Olsen. The risk of multiple sclerosis in bereaved parents: A nationwide cohort study in denmark. *Neurology*, 62:726–729, Mar 2004.

- [19] Sheri L Maddigan, Sumit R Majumdar, and Jeffrey A Johnson. Understanding the complex associations between patient-provider relationships, self-care behaviours, and health-related quality of life in type 2 diabetes: a structural equation modeling approach. Quality of life research: an international journal of quality of life aspects of treatment, care and rehabilitation, 14:1489–1500, August 2005.
- [20] John Schneider, Sherrie H Kaplan, Sheldon Greenfield, Wenjun Li, and Ira B Wilson. Better physician-patient relationships are associated with higher reported adherence to antiretroviral therapy in patients with HIV infection. *Journal of general internal medicine*, 19:1096–1103, November 2004.
- [21] Erin C Accurso, Ellen E Fitzsimmons-Craft, Anna Ciao, Li Cao, Ross D Crosby, Tracey L Smith, Marjorie H Klein, James E Mitchell, Scott J Crow, Stephen A Wonderlich, and Carol B Peterson. Therapeutic alliance in a randomized clinical trial for bulimia nervosa. *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology*, 83:637–642, June 2015.
- [22] John J Spinetta, Momcilo Jankovic, Giuseppe Masera, Arthur R Ablin, Ronald D Barr, Myriam Weyl Ben Arush, Giulio J D'Angio, Jeanette Van Dongen-Melman, Tim Eden, Claudia Epelman, Antonio Gentil Martins, Mark L Greenberg, Helen Vasiliatou Kosmidis, Daniel Oppenheim, and Paul M Zeltzer. Optimal care for the child with cancer: A summary statement from the SIOP Working Committee on Psychosocial Issues in Pediatric Oncology. *Pediatric blood & cancer*, 52:904–907, July 2009.
- [23] Mary L Keeley, Gary R Geffken, Emily Ricketts, Joseph P H McNamara, and Eric A Storch. The therapeutic alliance in the cognitive behavioral treatment of pediatric obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Journal of anxiety disorders*, 25:855–863, October 2011.
- [24] Meghan White, Jennifer N Stinson, Patricia Lingley-Pottie, Patrick J McGrath, Navreet Gill, and Abi Vijenthira. Exploring therapeutic alliance with an internet-based self-management program with brief telephone support for youth with arthritis: a pilot study. Telemedicine journal and e-health: the official journal of the American Telemedicine Association, 18:271–276, May 2012.
- [25] Kathleen L Meert, Sherylyn H Briller, Stephanie Myers Schim, Celia Thurston, and Allison Kabel. Examining the needs of bereaved parents in the pediatric intensive care unit: a qualitative study. *Death studies*, 33:712–740, September 2009.
- [26] Kathleen L Meert, Thomas N Templin, Kelly N Michelson, Wynne E Morrison, Richard Hackbarth, Joseph R Custer, Stephanie M Schim, Sherylyn H Briller, and

- Celia S Thurston. The Bereaved Parent Needs Assessment: a new instrument to assess the needs of parents whose children died in the pediatric intensive care unit*. *Critical care medicine*, 40:3050–3057, November 2012.
- [27] Elaine C Meyer, Jeffrey P Burns, John L Griffith, and Robert D Truog. Parental perspectives on end-of-life care in the pediatric intensive care unit. *Critical care medicine*, 30:226–231, January 2002.
- [28] Karen B DeSalvo, William P Fisher, Ky Tran, Nicole Bloser, William Merrill, and John Peabody. Assessing measurement properties of two single-item general health measures. Quality of life research: an international journal of quality of life aspects of treatment, care and rehabilitation, 15:191–201, March 2006.
- [29] Katherine Shear, Ellen Frank, Patricia R Houck, and Charles F Reynolds. Treatment of complicated grief: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA, 293:2601–2608, June 2005.
- [30] M Katherine Shear, Naomi Simon, Melanie Wall, Sidney Zisook, Robert Neimeyer, Naihua Duan, Charles Reynolds, Barry Lebowitz, Sharon Sung, Angela Ghesquiere, Bonnie Gorscak, Paula Clayton, Masaya Ito, Satomi Nakajima, Takako Konishi, Nadine Melhem, Kathleen Meert, Miriam Schiff, Mary-Frances O'Connor, Michael First, Jitender Sareen, James Bolton, Natalia Skritskaya, Anthony D Mancini, and Aparna Keshaviah. Complicated grief and related bereavement issues for DSM-5. Depression and anxiety, 28:103–117, February 2011.
- [31] F E Harrell, K L Lee, D B Matchar, and T A Reichert. Regression models for prognostic prediction: advantages, problems, and suggested solutions. *Cancer treatment reports*, 69:1071–1077, October 1985.
- [32] R McGuire, R McCabe, and S Priebe. Theoretical frameworks for understanding and investigating the therapeutic relationship in psychiatry. *Social psychiatry and psychiatric epidemiology*, 36:557–564, November 2001.
- [33] Kathleen L Meert, Susan Eggly, Murray Pollack, K J S Anand, Jerry Zimmerman, Joseph Carcillo, Christopher J L Newth, J Michael Dean, Douglas F Willson, Carol Nicholson, National Institute of Child Health, and Human Development Collaborative Pediatric Critical Care Research Network. Parents' perspectives on physician-parent communication near the time of a child's death in the pediatric intensive care unit. Pediatric critical care medicine: a journal of the Society of Critical Care Medicine and the World Federation of Pediatric Intensive and Critical Care Societies, 9:2–7, January 2008.

- [34] Susan Eggly, Kathleen L Meert, John Berger, Jerry Zimmerman, Kanwaljeet J S Anand, Christopher J L Newth, Rick Harrison, Joseph Carcillo, J Michael Dean, Douglas F Willson, Carol Nicholson, Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health, and Human Development Collaborative Pediatric Critical Care Research Network. A framework for conducting follow-up meetings with parents after a child's death in the pediatric intensive care unit. Pediatric critical care medicine: a journal of the Society of Critical Care Medicine and the World Federation of Pediatric Intensive and Critical Care Societies, 12:147–152, March 2011.
- [35] Kathleen L Meert, Susan Eggly, Robert A Berg, David L Wessel, Christopher J L Newth, Thomas P Shanley, Rick Harrison, Heidi Dalton, Amy E Clark, J Michael Dean, Allan Doctor, Carol E Nicholson, Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health, and Human Development Collaborative Pediatric Critical Care Research Network. Feasibility and perceived benefits of a framework for physician-parent follow-up meetings after a child's death in the PICU. Critical care medicine, 42:148–157, January 2014.
- [36] Kathleen L Meert, Stephanie Myers Schim, and Sherylyn H Briller. Parental bereavement needs in the pediatric intensive care unit: review of available measures. *Journal of palliative medicine*, 14:951–964, August 2011.
- [37] Kathleen L Meert, Susan Eggly, Karen Kavanaugh, Robert A Berg, David L Wessel, Christopher J L Newth, Thomas P Shanley, Rick Harrison, Heidi Dalton, J Michael Dean, Allan Doctor, Tammara Jenkins, and Crystal L Park. Meaning making during parent-physician bereavement meetings after a child's death. *Health psychology : official journal of the Division of Health Psychology, American Psychological Association*, 34:453–461, April 2015.
- [38] J C Vance, J M Najman, F M Boyle, G Embelton, W J Foster, and M J Thearle. Alcohol and drug usage in parents soon after stillbirth, neonatal death or SIDS. *Journal of paediatrics and child health*, 30:269–272, June 1994.
- [39] Richard F Summers and Jacques P Barber. Therapeutic alliance as a measurable psychotherapy skill. Academic psychiatry: the journal of the American Association of Directors of Psychiatric Residency Training and the Association for Academic Psychiatry, 27:160–165, 2003.
- [40] A O Horvath and L Luborsky. The role of the therapeutic alliance in psychotherapy. Journal of consulting and clinical psychology, 61:561–573, August 1993.

- [41] N L Collins. Working models of attachment: implications for explanation, emotion and behavior. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 71:810–832, October 1996.
- [42] James M Graham and Marta S Unterschute. A reliability generalization meta-analysis of self-report measures of adult attachment. *Journal of personality assessment*, 97:31–41, 2015.
- [43] H G Prigerson, P K Maciejewski, C F Reynolds, A J Bierhals, J T Newsom, A Fasiczka, E Frank, J Doman, and M Miller. Inventory of Complicated Grief: a scale to measure maladaptive symptoms of loss. *Psychiatry research*, 59:65–79, November 1995.
- [44] Sandeep Vaishnavi, Victoria Payne, Kathryn Connor, and Jonathan R T Davidson. A comparison of the SPRINT and CAPS assessment scales for posttraumatic stress disorder. *Depression and anxiety*, 23:437–440, 2006.
- [45] K M Connor and J R Davidson. SPRINT: a brief global assessment of post-traumatic stress disorder. *International clinical psychopharmacology*, 16:279–284, September 2001.
- [46] Arnie Cann, Lawrence G Calhoun, Richard G Tedeschi, Kanako Taku, Tanya Vishnevsky, Kelli N Triplett, and Suzanne C Danhauer. A short form of the Posttraumatic Growth Inventory. *Anxiety, stress, and coping*, 23:127–137, 2010.
- [47] Ann Bowling. Just one question: If one question works, why ask several? *Journal of epidemiology and community health*, 59:342–345, May 2005.
- [48] Kurt Kroenke, Robert L Spitzer, Janet B W Williams, and Bernd Lwe. The patient health questionnaire somatic, anxiety, and depressive symptom scales: a systematic review. *General hospital psychiatry*, 32:345–359, 2010.

Protocol	075	(Suttle